IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RAEKWON ROBERTSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Mar 07 2023 09:41 AM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

CASE NO: 85932

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Post-Conviction Habeas Petition

STEVEN S. OWENS, ESQ. Nevada Bar #004352 Steven S. Owens, LLC 1000 N. Green Valley #440-529 Henderson, Nevada 89074 (702) 595-1171 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal is from Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order filed on December 8, 2022, which denied a petition for post-conviction relief from a criminal conviction pursuant to a jury verdict. 8 AA 1769. Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order was filed on December 13, 2022. 8 AA 1768. Appellate jurisdiction in this case derives from NRAP 4(b)(1) and NRS 34.575(1). The Notice of Appeal was timely filed on January 6, 2023. 8 AA 1793.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because it is a postconviction appeal that does involve a challenge to a judgment of conviction or sentence for offenses that are category A felonies. See NRAP 17(b)(3).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IN FAILING TO OBJECT TO OTHER BAD ACT EVIDENCE OF TEXT MESSAGE ABOUT "HITTING A HOUSE"
- II. COUNSEL FAILED TO SEEK SEVERANCE OF TRIAL FROM CO-DEFENDANT WHEELER
- III. COUNSEL FAILED COUNSEL FAILED TO INVESTIGATE AND RAISE APPELLANT'S MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES AT TRIAL AS DISPROVING SPECIFIC INTENT
- IV. COUNSEL FAILED TO INVESTIGATE AND RAISE APPELLANT'S MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES AT SENTENCING IN MITIGATION

V. COUNSEL PROVIDED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE ON APPEAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 14, 2017, Appellant Raekwon Robertson was charged by way of Indictment in Case C-17-328587-2 along with two other co-defendants, Demario Lofton-Robinson and Davontae Wheeler, with counts of Conspiracy to Commit Robbery, Attempt Robbery with use of a Deadly Weapon, and Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon for the killing of Victim Gabriel Valenzuela on August 9, 2017.¹ 1 AA 1-6. An initial trial date was set for July 30, 2018. 1 AA 7-14. Attorney Michael Sanft confirmed as attorney of record on February 13, 2018, and represented Robertson through jury trial, sentencing and direct appeal. 1 AA 15.

A Superseding Indictment with the same charges was filed on April 19, 2018, as a result of new ballistics evidence submitted to the Grand Jury. 1 AA 16-45. On June 14, 2018, the trial date was vacated and reset for January 22, 2019. 1 AA 52-61. On January 2, 2019, Robertson's counsel had no objection to a co-defendant's motion to sever the parties and the trial date was vacated and reset for June 25, 2019. 1 AA 70, 72-6. On May 15, 2019, the trial date was again vacated as to all defendants and was reset for November 19, 2019, because co-defendant Lofton-Robinson had

¹ Appellant was also charged alone in the same Indictment with counts of Burglary, Conspiracy and Armed Robbery for a separate and unrelated incident occurring on August 2, 2017, at the Fiesta Discount Market to which he later pleaded guilty.

just gotten back from Lakes Crossing. 1 AA 82-6. At calendar call on November 5, 2019, the trial date was again vacated because co-defendant Lofton-Robinson was sent back to Competency Court and the trial date was reset for February 10, 2020. 1 AA 91-9. When co-defendant Lofton-Robinson was unavailable at Lake's Crossing, Robertson proceeded to a joint jury trial together with co-defendant Wheeler. 1 AA 100-2, 103-8.

On the first day of trial, an Amended Superseding Indictment was filed removing co-defendant Lofton-Robinson. 1 AA 109-12. The trial proceeded for eight days from February 11th through 24th, 2020. 1 AA 113 – 7 AA 1571. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on all three counts including First Degree Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon. 7 AA 1563-71, 1572-3. On March 12, 2020, Robertson pleaded guilty to two additional counts of Conspiracy and Armed Robbery for the unrelated crime at Fiesta Discount Market which were run concurrent. 7 AA 1574-85. Robertson was sentenced on all counts on June 11, 2020, and received an aggregate sentence of 28 years to Life in prison.² 7 AA 1586-99. The judgment of conviction was filed on June 17, 2020. 7 AA 1600-3.

² In contrast, co-defendant Wheeler was only found guilty of Conspiracy and Second Degree Murder (without a deadly weapon) and received an aggregate sentence of 144 months (or 12 years) to Life in prison. 7 AA 1659-61. After his return from Lake's Crossing, Co-defendant Lofton-Robinson pleaded guilty to Second Degree

Robertson's counsel filed a timely direct appeal on June 24, 2020, which was docketed as SC#81400. 7 AA 1604-5, 1667-8. Counsel filed an Opening Brief on November 12, 2020. 7 AA 1670-84. The Nevada Supreme Court filed its Order of Affirmance on May 14, 2021. 7 AA 1686-90. Remittitur issued on June 8, 2021. 7 AA 1691.

Meanwhile, Robertson filed premature pro se petitions for writ of habeas corpus in the instant case, A-20-823892-W, on October 29th and again on November 5th, 2020, which were stayed pending the outcome of the direct appeal. 7 AA 1606-16, 1617-22, 1623. On May 26, 2022, Robertson filed another timely petition along with a motion to appoint counsel which the district court granted on June 2, 2022. 7 AA 1624-31, 1632-6, 1637. Counsel's Supplemental Brief with exhibits was filed on August 19, 2022. 7 AA 1641-1740. The State's Response was filed on October 5, 2022. 8 AA 1741-62. The matter was heard and argued in court on November 17, 2022, at which time the habeas petition was denied. 8 AA 1763-7. Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order was filed on January 6, 2023. 8 AA 1793-4.

///

Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon and Attempt Robbery and received a stipulated aggregate sentence of 18 to 45 years in prison. 7 AA 1663-5.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At trial, the State presented evidence that on August 8th, 2017, and into the morning of the August 9th, 2017, Appellant Raekwon Robertson, with his codefendants Demario Lofton-Robinson, Davonte Wheeler, and Deshawn Robinson attempted to carry out an armed robbery. 4 AA 982-3. They arrived in the neighborhood of Dewey Avenue and Lindell Avenue just before midnight where they and their car, a white Mercury Grand Marquis, were observed by a passing jogger, Robert Mason who took note of the suspicious activity. 3 AA 653-8. Shortly after, they saw Gabrielle Valenzuela pull into his driveway and check his mail. 5 AA 1005-6.

The four men quickly approached him, grabbed him, and told him to give them everything he had. 5 AA 1005-6. Within a couple of seconds Valenzuela lay dying in his driveway, shot in his head and torso. 5 AA 1024. The four men fled the scene without taking any of Valenzuela's property. 5 AA 1007.

The State used accomplice DeShawn Robinson to validate the facts of the events. 5 AA 1019. Robinson agreed to this only after the State offered to remove the charge of Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon in exchange for his testimony against Robertson and Wheeler. 5 AA 1019. Robinson testified that Appellant Robertson carried a gun and participated in the attempted robbery and murder. 4 AA 990; 5 AA 1006. The State also presented a text message Robertson sent to

another accomplice on the day of the incident asking if he wanted to "hit a house," surveillance video showing Robertson in a car identified by a witness as being in the immediate vicinity of the crime scene at the time the crimes occurred, evidence of Robertson's fingerprints on that car, and a gun found at Robertson's house that had his DNA on it and contained bullets that matched casings found at the crime scene. 7 AA 1687-8.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court below erred in denying Robertson's habeas claims of ineffective assistance of counsel both at trial and on appeal without conducting an evidentiary hearing and erred in its application of law and determination of facts not supported by substantial evidence in the record. Specifically, counsel's failure to object on grounds of other bad act evidence to a text message between defendants which referenced "hitting a house" when the actual crime was one of robbery, not burglary, was deficient and prejudicial to Robertson. Counsel failed to seek severance of trial from co-defendant Wheeler who had an antagonistic defense which sought to shift blame away from himself to Robertson's brother which undermined Robertson's defense and resulted in grossly disparate outcomes. Counsel failed to investigate and raise Robertson's substantial mental health issues of a learning disability, mild mental retardation, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and ADHD either at trial to negate the specific intent crimes or at sentencing in

mitigation. Finally, counsel was ineffective on appeal for failing to communicate with Robertson and for failing to raise several meritorious issues. But for these errors, the outcome of Robertson's trial and appeal would have been different.

ARGUMENT

An indigent defendant possesses a constitutional right to reasonably effective assistance of counsel at trial and on appeal. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984) (trial); Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 391, 105 S. Ct. 830, 833 (1985) (appeal); Warden v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984), cert. denied, 471 U.S. 1004, 105 S. Ct. 1865 (1985). To state a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel sufficient to invalidate a judgment of conviction, a convicted defendant must demonstrate that counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and that he was prejudiced as a result of counsel's performance. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-88, 692, 104 S. Ct. at 2064-65, 2067. Prejudice is demonstrated where counsel's errors were so severe that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Id. at 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2068. A "reasonable probability" is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial. Id. The defendant carries the affirmative burden of establishing prejudice. 466 U.S. at 693, 104 S. Ct. at 2067-68.

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact that is subject to independent review. *Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996). However, a district court's factual findings will be given deference by this court on appeal, so long as they are supported by substantial evidence and are not clearly wrong. *Riley v. State*, 110 Nev. 638, 647, 878 P.2d 272, 278 (1994). This Court reviews the court's application of the law to those facts de novo. *Lader v. Warden*, 121 Nev. 682, 686, 120 P.3d 1164, 1166 (2005). Appellant Robertson was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution as set forth in the following claims for relief, which the district court erred in denying.

I. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IN FAILING TO OBJECT TO OTHER BAD ACT EVIDENCE OF TEXT MESSAGE ABOUT "HITTING A HOUSE"

Before the start of testimony, the parties discussed the admissibility of evidence which the State intended to reference in its opening statement to the jury and elicit through witnesses at trial. 3 AA 596-605. Specifically, the day before the murder there was a posting via Messenger from Raekwon Robertson's Facebook account to DeShawn Robinson's cell phone: "Ask DJ if he trying hit a house tonight Me, you, Sace and him. Sace already said yeah." *Id.* The State argued for admissibility as *res gestae* because the victim was caught, in essence, in the middle

of the efforts to "hit his house" and the statement showed intent. *Id.* Attorney Sanft objected on Robertson's behalf, but only on grounds that the message should not be referenced in opening statement out of an abundance of caution until such time as the State had laid proper foundation through a proper witness. *Id.* The State responded it had a good faith basis for admissibility and further argued the message was made in furtherance of the conspiracy to commit robbery as charged in this case. *Id.* The judge allowed the message to be referenced in the prosecutor's opening statement. *Id.*

The State then told the jury about the message in its opening statement and presented its theory of the case: "Why were they there? They went to hit a house that night, but instead, something else happened. They saw an opportunity to hit Gabriel Valenzuela" 3 AA 634-5, 646. The State then elicited the message about robbing or hitting a house through the cooperating co-defendant DeShawn Robinson and again through Det. Dosch without further objection from Robertson's counsel, Sanft. 4 AA 991-1000; 5 AA 1001-2; 6 AA 1383-4.

The district court denied this claim on grounds that the text message constituted *res gestae*, was not subject to a *Petrocelli* hearing, and so counsel was not ineffective. 8 AA 1781-2. However, the State could have elicited the four defendants getting together outside on the street without referencing the text message regarding other crimes. Under NRS 48.035(3), a witness may only testify

9

to an uncharged act or crime if it is so closely related to the act in controversy that the witness cannot describe the act without referring to the other uncharged act or crime. *Bellon v. State*, 121 Nev. 436, 444, 117 P.3d 176, 181 (2005). The encounter, robbery, and murder of the victim in the case could all have been described to the jury without specifically referring to the defendants' intention of getting together that night in order for "hitting a house."

The use of uncharged bad act evidence to convict a defendant is heavily disfavored in our criminal justice system because bad acts are often irrelevant and prejudicial and force the accused to defend against vague and unsubstantiated charges. *Tavares v. State*, 117 Nev. 725, 730, 30 P.3d 1128, 1131 (2001); NRS 48.045. The principal concern with admitting such acts is that the jury will be unduly influenced by the evidence, and thus convict the accused because it believes the accused is a bad person. *Id.* In *Armstrong v. State*, 110 Nev. 1322, 1323, 885 P.2d 600, 600-01 (1994) (citing *Petrocelli v. State*, 101 Nev. 46, 692 P.2d 503 (1985)), this court has stated:

Before admitting evidence of a prior bad act or collateral offense, the district court must conduct a hearing outside the presence of the jury. During the hearing, the state must present its justification for admission of the evidence, . . . [and] prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant committed the collateral offense, and the district court must weigh the probative value of the proffered evidence against its prejudicial effect.

Armstrong, 110 Nev. at 1323-24, 885 P.2d at 601. The *Petrocelli* hearing must be conducted on the record to allow this court a meaningful opportunity to review the district court's exercise of discretion. *Id*.

Counsel was ineffective in failing to specifically object to the text message on grounds that it constituted evidence of an uncharged crime, namely, a conspiracy to burglarize or "hit" a house. But Robertson and the other defendants were not charged with burglary or home invasion. See NRS 205.060, 205.067. Instead, the conspiracy as charged was to rob a person outside on the street. 1 AA 110. The State even conceded in its opening statement that defendants supposedly got together that night to commit one crime, a residential burglary or home invasion, but when they saw the victim, they spontaneously took advantage of that new opportunity and committed an entirely different type of crime, a robbery of the person. 3 AA 634-5, 646. Accordingly, had there been a *Petrocelli* hearing, the text message would not have been admitted because it was not relevant to a conspiracy or intent to rob the victim in this case. The text message was extraordinarily prejudicial in that defendants were labeled as having pre-planned a residential burglary or home invasion as opposed to simply committing a crime of opportunity. Because there was no *Tavares* instruction on other bad acts, the risk is too great that the jury punished Robertson for his bad character and convicted him of the charged offenses based on propensity. The district court erred in denying this claim as res gestae did not apply and the prejudicial other bad act evidence would have been excluded had counsel objected on those grounds.

II. COUNSEL FAILED TO SEEK SEVERANCE OF TRIAL FROM CO-DEFENDANT WHEELER

While there were four defendants charged with this crime, they all received disparate outcomes and sentences in large part because Appellant was tried jointly with his co-defendant Wheeler. Counsel was ineffective in failing to seek severance from Wheeler, but the district court denied this claim finding that their defenses were not mutually antagonistic and there was no prejudice. 8 AA 1783-4. The district court's ruling is not supported by the record or the law.

Co-defendant Demario Lofton-Robinson escaped a joint trial because he was at Lake's Crossing at the time. 1 AA 100-2, 103-8. Upon his return, he accepted a plea bargain for Second Degree Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon and received an aggregate sentence of 18 to 45 years in prison. 7 AA 1663-5. His younger brother, co-defendant DeShawn Robinson entirely escaped a murder charge by agreeing to testify for the State against the other defendants and eventually received probation. 7 AA 1693. Even co-defendant Davontae Wheeler was only found guilty of Second Degree Murder and was given an aggregate sentence of 12 years to life. 7 AA 1659. In contrast, Appellant was the only one of the four to be convicted of First Degree Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon and received the most severe sentence of an aggregate 28 years to life. 7 AA 1600-3.

If two or more defendants participated in the same unlawful act or transaction, the State may charge the defendants in the same indictment or information. NRS 173.135. But "[i]f it appears that a defendant . . . is prejudiced by a joinder . . . of defendants . . . for trial together, the court may order an election or separate trials of counts, grant a severance of defendants or provide whatever other relief justice requires." NRS 174.165(1). However, joinder is not preferable if it will compromise a defendant's right to a fair trial. *Marshall v. State*, 118 Nev. 642, 646-47, 56 P.3d 376, 379 (2002). "The decisive factor in any severance analysis remains prejudice to the defendant." *Id*. More specifically, severance should be granted "if there is a serious risk that a joint trial would compromise a specific trial right of one of the defendants, or prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment about guilt or innocence." *Id.*, quoting *Safiro v. United States*, 506 U.S. 534, 539 (1993).

Appellant was prejudiced in his association and joint trial with co-defendant Wheeler who was open-carrying a firearm at the convenience store shortly before the murder, yet was not convicted of using a deadly weapon. Wheeler's theory of defense was that he was no longer present at the time of the crime and he was mistaken for another suspect, Adrian Robinson, who was Appellant's brother. 3 AA 648-51; 7 AA 1513-29. Appellant's defense on the other hand was that there was insufficient evidence to corroborate DeShawn Robinson's testimony. 3 AA 646-7; 6 AA 1495 — 7 AA 1513. Wheeler successfully used his joint trial with Appellant to his advantage to minimize his own culpability and shift blame to Appellant. These mutually antagonistic defenses prejudiced Appellant resulting in a more severe conviction and sentence, which could have been alleviated by severing his case from Wheeler.

Additionally, Appellant would have accepted the plea bargain offered by the State but was prevented from doing so because Wheeler refused the offer which was contingent on both accepting because they were being tried jointly. 1 AA 120-4. There had already been a de facto severance of co-defendant Demario Lofton-Robinson, so trying Appellant and Wheeler separately would not have impaired the efficient administration of justice. Counsel was ineffective in failing to seek severance from co-defendant Wheeler in the trial of this case and the district court erred in finding otherwise.

III. COUNSEL FAILED TO INVESTIGATE AND RAISE APPELLANT'S MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES AT TRIAL AS DISPROVING SPECIFIC INTENT

Appellant's counsel called no witnesses at trial and Appellant himself did not testify. So, the jury heard nothing at all about Appellant's mental health issues and how they might have affected his behavior and intent the night of the robbery.

14

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