IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RAEKWON ROBERTSON,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Apr 05 2023 02:10 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Case No. 85932

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Post-Conviction Habeas Petition Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

STEVEN S. OWENS, ESQ. Nevada Bar #004352 Steven S. Owens, LLC 1000 N. Green Valley #440-529 Henderson, Nevada 89074 (702) 595-1171

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In challenging the district court's denial of his petition, Appellant asserts several claims under a theory of ineffective assistance of counsel.

First, Appellant claims that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to a text message as prior bad act evidence, but an objection would have been futile, as the evidence was admissible.

Second, Appellant claims that his counsel was ineffective for failing to seek severance from his co-defendant. However, Appellant cannot show that failure to sever resulted in prejudice.

Third, Appellant claims that his counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and raise his mental health issues at trial. However, Appellant cannot show that this resulted from neglect rather than strategic decision. He also fails to establish that such an investigation would have resulted in a more favorable outcome given the evidence against him.

Fourth, Appellant claims that his counsel was ineffective for failing to raise his mental health issues as mitigating evidence at sentencing. However, Appellant fails to demonstrate a reasonable probability that such evidence would have resulted in a more lenient sentence. Lastly, Appellant claims that his appellate counsel was ineffective for various reasons. However, Appellant fails to show that his counsel's representation was objectively unreasonable. Therefore, the district court's denial of his petition should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

This Court reviews the district court's application of the law de novo and gives deference to a district court's factual findings in habeas matters. <u>State v. Huebler</u>, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), <u>cert. denied</u>, 133 S. Ct. 988 (2013). A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact that is subject to independent review. However, a district court's factual findings will be given deference by this Court on appeal, so long as they are supported by substantial evidence and are not clearly wrong. <u>Lader v. Warden</u>, 121 Nev. 682, 686, 120 P.3d 1164, 1166 (2005). While this Court gives deference to the district court's factual findings if supported by substantial evidence and not clearly erroneous, this Court reviews the district court's application of the law to those facts de novo. <u>Id.</u>

Appellant alleges that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to other bad act evidence of the text message about "hitting a house." <u>Opening Brief</u> at 8. He then argues that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to seek severance from his co-defendant. <u>Opening Brief</u> at 12. Next, Appellant claims that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and raise his mental health issues both at trial to disprove specific intent and as mitigating evidence at sentencing. <u>Opening Brief</u> at 14, 17. Finally, Appellant asserts that his appellate counsel was ineffective on appeal. <u>Opening Brief</u> at 19

I. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense." The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that "the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel." <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); <u>see also State v. Love</u>, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993).

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must prove he was denied "reasonably effective assistance" of counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 686-87, 104 S. Ct. at 2063-64; <u>see also</u> <u>Love</u>, 109 Nev. at 1138, 865 P.2d at 323. Under the <u>Strickland</u> test, a defendant must show first that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and second, that but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687-88, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2065, 2068; <u>Warden, Nevada State Prison v.</u> <u>Lyons</u>, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the <u>Strickland</u> two-part test). "[T]here is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim

to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S. Ct. at 2069.

The court begins with the presumption of effectiveness and then must determine whether the defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was ineffective. <u>Means v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011, 103 P.3d 25, 32 (2004). "Effective counsel does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is '[w]ithin the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." <u>Jackson v. Warden</u>, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975).

"There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 689. "Strategic choices made by counsel after thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable." <u>Dawson v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); <u>see also Ford v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 P.2d 951, 953 (1989). Likewise, the decision not to call witnesses is within the discretion of trial counsel and will not be questioned unless it was a plainly unreasonable decision. <u>Rhyne v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 1, 38 P.3d 163 (2002); Dawson, 108 Nev. 112, 825 P.2d 593. In essence, the court must "judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066. A defendant is not entitled to a particular "relationship" with his attorney. <u>Morris v. Slappy</u>, 461 U.S. 1, 14, 103 S. Ct. 1610, 1617 (1983). There is no requirement for any specific amount of communication as long as counsel is reasonably effective in his representation. <u>Id.</u>

The role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance." <u>Donovan v. State</u>, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978). This analysis does not mean that the court should "second guess reasoned choices between trial tactics nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the possibilities are of success." <u>Id.</u> To be effective, the constitution "does not require that counsel do what is impossible or unethical. If there is no bona fide defense to the charge, counsel cannot create one and may disserve the interests of his client by attempting a useless charade." <u>United States v.</u> <u>Cronic</u>, 466 U.S. 648, 657 n.19, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 2046 n.19 (1984).

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. <u>McNelton v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (*citing* <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." <u>Id.</u> (*citing* <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687-89, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2064–65, 2068).

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel asserted in a petition for postconviction relief must be supported with specific factual allegations, which if true, would entitle the petitioner to relief. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). "A petitioner for post-conviction relief cannot rely on conclusory claims for relief but must make specific factual allegations that if true would entitle him to relief. 'Bare' and 'naked' allegations are not sufficient to warrant postconviction relief, nor are those belied and repelled by the record." Id. "A claim is 'belied' when it is contradicted or proven to be false by the record as it existed at the time the claim was made." Mann v. State, 118 Nev. 351, 354, 46 P.3d 1228, 1230 (2002). A habeas corpus petitioner must prove disputed factual allegations by a preponderance of the evidence. Means, 120 Nev. at 1011, 103 P.3d at 32. The burden rests on Appellant to "allege specific facts supporting the claims in the petition." NRS 34.735(6).

A party seeking review bears the responsibility "to cogently argue, and present relevant authority" to support his assertions. Edwards v. Emperor's Garden

Restaurant, 122 Nev. 317, 330 n.38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 n.38 (2006); Dept. of Motor Vehicles and Public Safety v. Rowland, 107 Nev. 475, 479, 814 P.2d 80, 83 (1991) (defendant's failure to present legal authority resulted in no reason for the district court to consider defendant's claim); Maresca v. State, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987) (an arguing party must support his arguments with relevant authority and cogent argument; "issues not so presented need not be addressed"); Randall v. Salvation Army, 100 Nev. 466, 470-71, 686 P.2d 241, 244 (1984) (court may decline consideration of issues lacking citation to relevant legal authority); Holland Livestock v. B & C Enterprises, 92 Nev. 473, 533 P.2d 950 (1976) (issues lacking citation to relevant legal authority do not warrant review on the merits).

Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile objections or arguments. <u>See Ennis v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006). Trial counsel has the "immediate and ultimate responsibility of deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if any, to call, and what defenses to develop." <u>Rhyne</u>, 118 Nev. at 8, 38 P.3d at 167.

The Appellant is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing if the record belies or repels the allegations." <u>Colwell v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 807, 813, 59 P.3d 463, 467 (2002) (*citing* Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 621, 28 P.3d 498, 507 (2001)).

"The rule is well established that it is the function of the jury, not the appellate court, to weigh the evidence and pass upon the credibility of the witness." <u>Walker v.</u> <u>State</u>, 91 Nev. 724, 726, 542 P.2d 438, 438-39 (1975).

There is a "strong presumption" that counsel's attention to certain issues to the exclusion of others reflects tactics rather than "sheer neglect." <u>Harrington</u>, 131 S. Ct. at 788. Although courts may not indulge *post hoc* rationalization for counsel's decision-making that contradicts the available evidence of counsel's actions, neither may they insist counsel confirm every aspect of the strategic basis for his or her actions. <u>Id.</u>

In considering whether counsel has met this standard, the court should first determine whether counsel made a "sufficient inquiry into the information that is pertinent to his client's case." <u>Doleman v State</u>, 112 Nev. 843, 846, 921 P.2d 278, 280 (1996); *citing* <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690-691, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. Once such a reasonable inquiry has been made by counsel, the court should consider whether counsel made "a reasonable strategy decision on how to proceed with his client's case." <u>Doleman</u>, 112 Nev. at 846, 921 P.2d at 280, *citing* <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690-691, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. Finally, counsel's strategy is a "tactical" decision and will be "virtually unchallengeable absent extraordinary circumstances." <u>Doleman</u>, 112 Nev. at 846, 921 P.2d at 280; <u>Howard v. State</u>, 106 Nev. 713, 722, 800 P.2d 175, 180 (1990); Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691, 104 S.Ct. at 2066.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO MESSAGE AS PRIOR BAD ACT EVIDENCE

Appellant alleges that Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the text message on the grounds that it constituted evidence of an uncharged bad act. <u>VIII</u> <u>AA</u> 1781. The message in question read "Sace is in". <u>Id</u>.

Before the admission of evidence of a prior bad act or collateral offense, the trial court must conduct a hearing on the record and determine (1) that the evidence is relevant to the crime charged; (2) that the other act is proven by clear and convincing evidence; and (3) that the probative value of the other act is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Qualls v. State, 114 Nev. 900, 902, 961 P.2d 765, 766 (1998) (citing Tinch v. State, 113 Nev. 1170, 1176, 946 P.2d 1061, 1064-65 (1997); Armstrong v. State, 110 Nev. 1322, 1323-24, 885 P.2d 600, 600-01 (1994)). However, when several crimes are intermixed or blended with one another or connected such that they form an indivisible criminal transaction, and when full proof by testimony, whether direct or circumstantial, of any one of them cannot be given without showing the others, evidence of any or all of them is admissible against a defendant on trial for any offense which is itself a detail of the whole criminal scheme. Allan v. State, 92 Nev. 318, 549 P.2d 1402 (1976). Where the *res gestae* doctrine is applicable, the determinative analysis is not a weighing of

14

the prejudicial effect of evidence of other bad acts against the probative value of that evidence. <u>State v. Shade</u>, 111 Nev. 887, 894, 900 P.2d 327, 331 (1995).

As Appellant concedes, the State argued for the message's admission by invoking the doctrine of *res gestae* (codified by NRS 48.035(3)). <u>VIII AA</u> 1782. In addition to other messages contained in the same thread, the message in question explained the purpose of the foursome's gathering and carrying firearms, as well as how they ultimately came to confront and murder Mr. Valenzuela. Accordingly, even if trial counsel had objected to the message as evidence of prior bad acts or an uncharged crime, no *Petrocelli* hearing would have been conducted because the Court concurred the evidence was admissible under the *res gestae* doctrine. Thus, the objection Appellant asserts should have been made would have been futile. Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile objections or arguments <u>See</u> Ennis v. State, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006).

Further, even if trial counsel could be deemed ineffective for the failure to raise a futile objection, Appellant cannot establish a reasonable probability that the proceedings would have resulted in a different outcome if counsel had objected to the text message's admission on the grounds that it constituted evidence of an uncharged crime. Appellant concludes without substantiation that a *Petrocelli* hearing would have found that the text message was not relevant. <u>VIII AA</u> 1782. NRS 48.015 reads:

As used in this chapter, "relevant evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence.

The message constitutes evidence of the parties' shared intent to seek pecuniary gain through criminal means, namely burglary. The existence of this intent makes it more probable that Appellant and his accomplices would subsequently establish a shared intent to seek pecuniary gain by perpetrating robbery. Given that this shared intent is material to Count 1–CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT ROBBERY, evidence thereof is necessarily relevant. Moreover, while the State sought the admission of only a single message, a properly executed search warrant recovered a litany of messages between the co-defendants that would establish Conspiracy to Commit Burglary by clear and convincing evidence. Id. Finally, even if the relative weights of probative and prejudicial value were considered under the doctrine of *res* gestae, Appellant has failed to assert let alone establish that the risk of unfair prejudice to him posed by the message in question substantially outweighed the probative value thereof. Therefore, this claim was properly denied.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO SEEK SEVERANCE

Appellant claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to seek severance from co-defendant Wheeler because the co-defendants had mutually antagonistic defenses. <u>VIII AA</u> 1783. However, Appellant's claims are belied by the record in that the defenses were not mutually antagonistic.

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